### **RECEIVED**

12-08-2014

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 14AP2199-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

#### JUAN FRANCISCO ROSAS VIVAR,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Denial of a Pretrial Motion to Suppress Evidence and the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Jefferson County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jennifer L. Weston, Presiding

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079355

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water St., Ste. 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4300 velasquezm@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the court err in denying Mr. Rosas-Vivar's motion to suppress evidence based on an illegal stop?

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Rosas-Vivar does not request oral argument. This is a one-judge appeal under Wis. Stat. §§ 753.31(2) and (3); therefore, Wis. Stat. § 809.23(4)(b) prohibits a request for publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state charged Mr. Rosas-Vivar with operating while intoxicated-2<sup>nd</sup> offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 346.63(1)(a) and 346.65(2)(am)2, and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration, 2<sup>nd</sup> offense, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 346.63(1)(b) and 346.65(2)(am)(2). (1:1). In an amended complaint the state added an additional charge of operating while revoked, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 343.44(1)(b) and 343.44(2)(ar)2. (4:2).

According to the complaint, Officer Rupprecht responded to a call for service from a trailer park in Waterloo, WI. En route to the caller's address, the officer observed a car leaving the trailer park. (4:2). The car was a red Pontiac with a black hood and had a single male occupant. (4:2).

At the residence, the caller, Ms. Peralta told the officer that her ex-husband, Mr. Rosas-Vivar had been knocking at her door to try and discuss a vehicle. (4:2). She also told the officer that the car he saw leaving was Mr. Rosas-Vivar's. (4:2). According to the complaint, Ms. Peralta told Mr. Rosas-Vivar to leave because it was too late to talk. (4:2). The complaint also states that Ms. Peralta expressed concern that

Mr. Rosas-Vivar had been drinking and was driving, and that she did not know whether their son was in the car. (4:2). She provided the officer with Mr. Rosas-Vivar's address. (4:2).

The officer then drove to Mr. Rosas-Vivar's address and observed him walking away from the same vehicle he saw earlier. (4:2). The officer confirmed Mr. Rosas-Vivar's identification by asking for ID. (4:2). According to the complaint, Mr. Rosas-Vivar told the officer that he had been at his ex-wife's house and that it was him that the officer had observed driving. (4:2).

While talking to Mr. Rosas-Vivar, the officer smelled the odor of intoxicants, observed bloodshot eyes, and Mr. Rosas-Vivar admitted to drinking. (4:2-3). Subsequently, field sobriety tests were administered, which Mr. Rosas-Vivar did not pass. (4:3). The complaint asserted that his driving privileges had been revoked in 2009 following a first OWI offense. (4:3).

Mr. Rosas-Vivar filed a pre-trial motion to suppress the evidence obtained as a result of the illegal stop. (8). Following a hearing, the court denied the motion. (24:44). The court denied a subsequent motion to reconsider. <sup>1</sup>(9). Defense counsel filed another motion for reconsideration at the plea hearing, which the court denied. (12; 35, 10, App. 160). Mr. Rosas entered a plea to operating while intoxicated, 2<sup>nd</sup> offense. (35:15). The court sentenced Mr. Rosas-Vivar to fifteen days of jail with privileges for Huber release, as well as a \$350 fine, court costs and the DNA surcharge. (35:17-18). The court also ordered a 12-month driver's license suspension, the ignition interlock device and an alcohol assessment. (35:20). The court stayed the entire judgment pending appeal. (35:20).

- 2 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The first motion for reconsideration included a challenge to the administration of field sobriety tests. Mr. Rosas-Vivar is not challenging that aspect of the motion to suppress. He is only appealing the court's decision as to the original stop.

On June 20, 2014, he filed a postconviction motion related to the DNA surcharge. (20). In a written memorandum and decision, the circuit court granted that motion and vacated the DNA surcharge. (27).

Mr. Rosas-Vivar then filed a timely notice of appeal regarding already preserved issues. (29).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELATED TO THE SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE

On December 6, 2013 the court held a hearing on Mr. Rosas-Vivar's motion to suppress evidence as a result of an illegal stop. Officer Rupprecht and Mr. Rosas-Vivar testified.

Officer Rupprecht, who had been working as a police officer for under a year, responded to a female caller on the night of October 11, 2013. (34:4-6; App. 104-106). En route to the caller's address he observed a red Pontiac with a black hood. (34:8; App. 108). He did not see any erratic driving, speeding, or otherwise bad driving. (34:17; App. 117). The strength of both the streetlights and the headlights of his squad car allowed the officer to faintly see the face of the male driver and that he was the sole occupant. (34:8; App. 108).

Officer Rupprecht testified that he arrived at the residence and had contact with Ms. Peralta. (34:8; App. 108). She complained that her ex-husband, Mr. Rosas-Vivar, had knocked on her door to talk about a vehicle and she did not want to talk because it was too late at night. (34: 9, App. 109). Ms. Peralta also told the officer that she told Mr. Rosas-Vivar that it was too late and that they would talk another time. (34:17; App. 117). Mr. Rosas-Vivar apparently complied with Ms. Peralta's request and left without incident. (34:17; App. 117). There was also no report of him being loud, abusive or otherwise disruptive in any way. (34:17, App. 117).

Ms. Peralta complained to Officer Rupprecht that the visit from Mr. Rosas-Vivar woke her up and bothered her because it was late and that she believed he had been drinking. (34:9, App. 109). Ms. Peralta told the officer that she partially opened her door to see who was knocking and that through that partial opening she was able to smell alcohol. (34:11, App. 111). She further told the officer she was concerned that her son was in the car. (34:10, App. 110).

She provided a description of Mr. Rosas-Vivar's vehicle, which the officer concluded was the same vehicle he observed while on his way to the residence. (34:11, App. 111). According to the his report, which was introduced into evidence, the son was fourteen years old and the officer informed Ms. Peralta that he observed Mr. Rosas-Vivar's car on the way to the call and that there was just a single male in it. (Envelope, Defendant's Exhibit 1; App. 161).

The officer ascertained that Mr. Rosas-Vivar lived nearby, and obtained his phone number. (34:12, 18-19; App. 112, 118-119). After he left Ms. Peralta's house, he went to look for Mr. Rosas-Vviar "to make contact with him in reference to the complaint." (34:12; App. 112). He planned to advise Mr. Rosas-Vivar, who had left at Ms. Peralta's request, that she did not want him at her door so late at night. (34:12; App. 112).

The officer drove to where Mr. Rosas-Vivar lived and stopped his squad at the entrance the apartments. (34: 20; App. 120). The officer saw the same car he had seen earlier. (34:12; App. 112). The officer was alone, in uniform and in his marked squad car, but the squad lights were not activated. (34:12-13; App.112-113). Mr. Rosas-Vivar saw the officer in his squad and went over and leaned into the passenger side window to talk. (34:13-14; App. 113-114).

The officer clarified that Mr. Rosas-Vivar did not come over to the squad until he called him by name and told him to do so. (34:19-20, 126; App. 119-120, 126). He further

testified that if Mr. Rosas-Vivar had not responded to his first attempt to call him over, he would have continued to try and engage him. (34:20; App. 120). Officer Rupprecht said that Mr. Rosas-Vivar would not have been free to leave or ignore him because he wanted to talk to him. (34:20; App. 120). The officer's tone in telling Mr. Rosas-Vivar to come over to the squad car was authoritative. (34: 26; App. 126). Mr. Rosas-Vivar complied with the officer's command, and once he started talking, the officer smelled alcohol and observed bloodshot eyes. (34:14; App. 114). The investigation changed into an OWI investigation. (34:14; App. 114).

The officer agreed that Mr. Rosas-Vivar, who left without incident when Ms. Peralta told him to, had committed no crime. (34:17; App. 117). The officer also testified that the mere odor of alcohol did not mean that a person is intoxicated. (34:18; App. 118). He stated that when he went to look for Mr. Rosas-Vivar he was doing so to "investigate the—him knocking on the door and to make contact with him in regards to that."(34:18; App. 118). But, the officer also testified that he was investigating a potential drunk driving case. (34:26; App. 126).

When the court questioned Officer Rupprecht, he said that the purpose of going to Mr. Rosas-Vivar's home was to "make contact with him in reference to the initial complaint." (34:29: App. 129). When the court asked why the officer would do that, he stated, "[j]ust to advise him of [Ms.Peralta's] wishes for that evening." (34:29; App. 129). He told the court that he was not going to investigate an OWI. (34:30; App. 130). But he also told the court that he was concerned about the well-being of Ms. Peralta's child and to make sure Mr. Rosas-Vivar was not driving intoxicated with the son in the vehicle. (34:30-31; App. 130-131).

Officer Rupprecht then denied telling Ms. Peralta that he had not seen anyone else in the vehicle. (34:31; App 131). When counsel questioned the officer about his report, which

indicated that he had only seen one person, he stated, "[t]hat I could tell, based on the lighting." (34:31, 131). However, early in direct examination the officer testified that the streetlights and his headlights were illuminating enough to discern that the driver was alone, a male, and to see his a little of his face. (34:8; App. 108). The officer then agreed that he saw just one person in the vehicle. (34:31; App. 131). Finally, the officer testified that he was never investigating a crime and that when he made contact Mr. Rosas-Vivar outside of his home he did not believe he was about to commit a crime nor was he in the process of committing a crime. (34:32; 132).

Mr. Rosas-Vivar testified that the officer told him to go to the officer's squad to talk and that he obeyed. (34:38; 138). Mr. Rosas-Vivar did not feel as though he could ignore the officer and felt obligated to talk to him. (34:38; 138). Mr. Rosas-Vivar, who was using a court interpreter, testified that he understands enough English to know that the officer was telling him to come over to the squad. (34:39-40; 139-140). The officer did not have the lights activated, did not draw a gun, and did not immediately put him in handcuffs. (34:40-41; 140-141).

The defense argued that there was no basis to justify the stop because there was no indication that a crime had been committed, was in the process of being committed, or was about to be committed. (34:42; App. 142). The court denied the motion. It noted that the officer's "intention wasn't to conduct an investigation. (34:43; App. 143). Rather, it was to do what law enforcement officers do when they receive calls and complaints, which is to respond and then take that information and do something with it." (34:43; App. 143). The officer was responding to the complaint that Mr. Rosas-Vivar's ex-wife did not want him at her residence so the officer went to see him to tell him not to do that anymore because it is not appropriate. (34:43; App. 143).

In regards to the fact that Mr. Rosas-Vivar obeyed the officer's request to come to the squad car, the court said, "he may have felt like he had no choice, but it was a voluntary action on his part. No different that getting up out of bed and walking down my stairs and opening the front door to a doorbell."(34:43; App. 143). The court stated that the officer's credibility was "solid" and that he really just intended to talk to Mr. Rosas-Vivar about going to his exwife's home at night. (34:44; App. 144). The court stated that the officer was performing a "sort of minor community caretaking function, the goal being to keep the peace and make sure that everybody sort of behaves in an appropriate manner with each other so that things such as disorderly conduct/domestic abuse cases don't arise." (34:44; App. 144).

The court denied the motion because it did not "believe he was engaging in an investigation, and it wasn't a stop, and any action by Mr. Rosas was voluntary on his part, with nothing to suggest that he wasn't free to just walk away if he chose to do that, other than a tone of voice perhaps." (34:44; App. 144).

The state reiterated its argument that this was not a stop, and that it was either a community caretaker or a situation of voluntary contact. (34:45; App. 145).

The court recited its findings of fact:

- Mr. Rosas-Vivar was at his ex-wife's home around 11:30p.m. to talk about a car.
- Ms. Peralta told the officer she that her ex-husband had consumed alcohol.
- Ms. Peralta voiced concern about the well-being of her son.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> The court noted that the age of Mr. Rosas-Vivar and Ms. Peralta's son was unknown. The police report, which was admitted into evidence indicates he was 14 at the time. (Envelope, Defense Exhibit, 1; App. 161).

- The officer's observations gave no indicia of either alcohol consumption, or drunk driving.
- The three indicators would be the time of night, the "somewhat unusual behavior" of talking to his ex-wife at that time of night about a vehicle, and the ex-wife's statements that she could smell alcohol.

(34:47-48; App. 147-148). The court then made a finding that those factors "do rise to the level of reasonable suspicion to stop Mr. Rosas to inquire – further inquire about alcohol consumption and possible drunk driving." (34:48; App. 148). The court also stated, "I recognize that they are slim, but I also recognize the legislative purpose of the laws surrounding drunk driving." (34:48; App. 148). The court called those finding peripheral because its ultimate ruling was that no stop occurred. (34: 48; App. 148)

On the day of the plea and sentencing hearing the defense filed another motion for reconsideration. (12). The basis of the motion was to challenge the officer's credibility regarding his testimony that Ms. Peralta told him that she smelled alcohol. (12). At the hearing the court summarized its ruling that what occurred was not a stop, but rather it was a voluntary encounter. (35: 5-9; App. 155-159). The court did not make a factual finding regarding whether or not Ms. Peralta told the officer that Mr. Rosas-Vivar smelled like alcohol. It stated, "I take your affidavit to the extent that it is offered. Again, I just don't think that there was even a stop here." (35: 9; App. 159). The court denied this motion for reconsideration. (35:10; App. 160).

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Circuit Court Erroneously Denied the Suppression Motion.
  - A. Introduction and Standard of Review.

The first question presented is whether the officer's actions and Mr. Rosas-Vivar's submission to the order to go over and talk to the officer was a stop within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. The second question presented is whether the community care taker function justifies the stop. Finally, the third question is whether there was reasonable suspicion to justify the stop.

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence, an appellate court upholds the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 11, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305. citing *State v. Eskridge*, 2002 WI App 158, ¶ 9, 256 Wis. 2d 314, 647 N.W.2d 434. However, an appellate court independently determines "whether the facts establish that a search or seizure occurred and, if so, whether it violated constitutional standards." *Washington*, ¶ 11, citing *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137-138, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990).

B. The officer stopped Mr. Rosas-Vivar within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment.

Citizens are guaranteed the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *Washington*, 284 Wis. 2d 456, ¶ 12. (citing *Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d at 137). Wisconsin "consistently follows the United States Supreme Court's 'interpretation of the search and seizure provision of the [F]ourth Amendment in construing the same provision of the state constitution." *Id*.

A seizure under the meaning of the Fourth Amendment requires restraint of movement either by physical force, or by a show of authority. Washington, ¶ 13, citing United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980). Police approaching a person in public and asking if they can ask questions is not a seizure, as long as long as they do not convey a message that compliance is required. Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 434-435 (1991). The test for determining whether an individual is seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment is, if in light of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would not have believed he was free to leave. Washington, 284, Wis. 2d, 456 ¶ 12. citing Mendenhall at 554. Furthermore, a person must yield to law enforcement's show of authority in order to be seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. California v. Hodari D., 499 U.S. 621, 626 (1991).

It is undisputed that Mr. Rosas-Vivar obeyed the officer's order to go and talk to him. Therefore, the only inquiry necessary to determine whether he was seized is if under the circumstances there was a show of authority such that a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave. *Washington*, 284, Wis. 2d 456, ¶ 13; *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554.

The circuit court found that there was no stop because Mr. Rosas-Vivar spoke with the officer voluntarily. (34:44; App. 144). It found nothing to suggest that he was not free to walk away, other than perhaps the officer's tone. (34:44; App. 144). The circuit court further characterized the encounter as being no different than opening the door when the doorbell rings. (34:43; App. 143).

An order from an officer to do some action, even absent a uniform, flashing lights, a siren, drawn weapons, or physical restraint can be a show of authority. In *State v. Washington*, plain clothes officers in an unmarked vehicle

responded to a complaint of loitering. Id.  $\P$  2. Mr. Washington was walking in front of the house that was the subject of the complaint. Id. The officers recognized him from previous dealings and were aware that he did not live in the area. Id.  $\P$  3. Within a few feet of the defendant, the officer ordered him to stop. Id. This Court determined that the officer's order to stop was a show of authority and that because Mr. Washington yielded to that show of authority, he was seized. Id.  $\P$  15.

Here, as in *Washington*, the officer shouted an order at Mr. Rosas-Vivar. In an authoritative tone he ordered him to come to the squad car to speak with him. (34:26; App. 126). There, the officers stepped out of their vehicle and based on their past experiences with the defendant and the complaint they ordered him to stop. *Washington*, ¶ 2. Just as the officers were specifically ordering him to do something, here, when the officer here called out "Juan", he was making it clear that he was ordering Mr. Rosas-Vivar to do something. The officer was doing so based on the complaint he received from Mr. Rosa-Vivar's ex-wife.

In this case, the officer's authority was even more apparent than in *Washington* because he was in uniform and in a marked squad, as opposed to plain clothed in an unmarked car. (34:12-13; App. 112-113). A reasonable person would not believe he was free to leave or to ignore a direct order from a uniformed officer who was calling him by name in an authoritative tone.

Similarly, an order to "stay put" is also a show of authority effecting a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *In re Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777. In that case, two uniformed officers in an unmarked squad noticed a young girl on her own, after dark and in a high-crime area. *Id.* ¶5. From their vehicle across the street, the officers engaged her in questions as they thought she may be a runaway. *Id.* Thinking the answers were evasive, one of the officers told the girl to "stay put" so he

could move the car to the other side of the street and ask more questions, but she fled. *Id*. One of the questions the Court decided was whether or not the officer telling Kelsey to "stay put" invoked her constitutional protections. *Id*. ¶¶ 11-12.

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