# **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **01-30-2015**

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2014AP002199-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent, v.

#### JUAN FRANCISCO ROSAS VIVAR,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Denial of a Pretrial Motion to Suppress Evidence and the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Jefferson County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jennifer L. Weston, Presiding

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

By: MONICA J. HALL Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1049039

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### ARGUMENT

# I. OFFICER RUPPRECHT DID NOT SEIZE THE DEFENDANT WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE FOURTH AMENDMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals reviews the Circuit Court's questions of fact from a motion to suppress under the clearly erroneous standard and reviews questions of law from a motion to suppress *de novo*. *County of Grant v. Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 17, 356 Wis. 2d 343, 850 N.W.2d 253 (*citing State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94, ¶ 17, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834 and *State v. Hess*, 2010 WI 82, ¶ 19, 327 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 579).

B. <u>The Interaction between Officer Rupprecht and the Defendant was a</u> Consensual Encounter.

This case is easily distinguished from *State v. Washington*. 2005 WI App 123, 284 Wis. 2d 456, 700 N.W.2d 305, which the defendant cites in his brief. In *Washington*, two officers were investigating an anonymous complaint that drug sales and loitering were occurring outside of a vacant house in a high crime area; one of the officers gave testimony at the motion hearing. *Id.* at  $\P$  2, 7. The officer was unable to provide much information regarding the anonymous complaint. *See id.* at  $\P$  7. He could not identify who made the complaint, when the complaint was made, the veracity of the complaint, or why the complainant had reason to believe that drug trafficking was occurring at the house. *Id.* The officer testified that when he arrived at the residence, he recognized the defendant from prior contacts and knew that the defendant had a prior drug arrest. *Id.* at  $\P$  7. The officer further

testified that when he saw the defendant in front of the house talking to two other people, he intended to cite the defendant for loitering. *Id.* at  $\P \P 3$ , 7.

When the squad car passed the residence, the defendant and the people he was speaking with started to walk in different directions. Id. at ¶ 7. The officers found the defendant as he was walking, stopped their squad, and the officer who testified at the suppression hearing got out. Id. The officer was within two to three feet of the defendant when he told the defendant to stop. Id. at ¶ 3. The officer testified that the defendant stopped, but that the defendant, "had the motion that he wanted to run. I told him not to run; stand there. He continued to look nervous. He wanted to run. At that point, I'm familiar that he – what he may do. I drew my weapon." Id. The officer moved closer to the defendant, and the defendant put his hands up. Id. When this occurred, the defendant threw a washcloth, and the officer pushed the defendant to the ground. Id. at ¶¶ 3, 7. The officers discovered cocaine in the washcloth. Id. ¶ 2. The court held that the defendant was seized, "when he initially stopped after the police commanded him to do so." Id. at ¶¶ 14-15.

In contrast, the initial complaint in this case came from a known citizen, who made the complaint, in person, to Officer Rupprecht minutes before Officer Rupprecht had contact with the Defendant. (Trans 8:20-23; 11:14-16; 11:22-24; 12:1-4.) When Officer Rupprecht saw the Defendant, he remained in the squad car. (Trans 13:12-25; 14:1.) Rather than ordering the Defendant to "Stop!," Officer Rupprecht requested, "Juan, can you come talk to me?" (or something similar) in an authoritative tone. (Trans 19:23-25; 20:1-12; 26:8-21.). Officer Rupprecht did

not approach the Defendant; instead, the Defendant approached the open passenger's side window of the squad car, where he spoke to Officer Rupprecht (Trans 13:12-25; 14:1.). Unlike the circumstances in *Washington*, there was no indication the Defendant intended to flee, as the Defendant did not put his hands up, and Officer Rupprecht never pulled his gun. (Trans 40:14-22.)

The Defendant's argument that he was seized for Fourth Amendment purposes the moment he submitted to Officer Rupprecht's request to speak with him is not supported by In re Kelsey C.R., because that case does not address whether the command given in that case led to a seizure. 2001 WI 54, 243 Wis. 2d 422, 626 N.W.2d 777. In Kelsey C.R., two uniformed officers in an unmarked car saw a young female sitting alone in a huddled position mid-block at 7:40 p.m. in a high-crime commercial area in Milwaukee. Id. at  $\P$  4. The officers stopped their squad on the opposite side of the street from the young woman and asked her a few questions including how old she was, where she lived, and what she was doing. Id. at ¶ 5. The officers then told her to "stay put" before making a U-turn to be on the same side of the street as the girl. Id. The girl fled. Id. Officers gave chase, and after they caught the girl, continued to investigate whether she was a runaway. *Id.* ¶ 6. Eventually, after a pat down search, the officers found a handgun in the girl's jeans. *Id.* at  $\P$  7.

The Supreme Court analyzed various points in the encounter to establish whether the police interaction with the girl was allowed under the Fourth Amendment. See *Kelsey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, ¶¶ 29-51. The court began its analysis

from the moment the officers told the girl to "stay put" and did not even examine the officers' initial encounter with the girl, presumably because that part of the encounter was consensual. *See id.* at ¶ 29. The court chose to apply the *Hodari D.*¹ standard for when a seizure occurs and determined that because the girl did not submit to the officer's show of authority, no seizure occurred until the officers used physical force to catch her after the chase. *Id.* at ¶ 33. Therefore, the court did not determine if a seizure would have occurred if Kelsey had submitted to the words, "Stay put," which would have made that case applicable to this case.² Furthermore, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated that when a person submits to police authority, the proper test for whether a seizure occurred is the test under *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870 (1980).³ *Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 30. Therefore, *In re Kelcey C.R.* is not instructive for this issue.

More parallels to the Case before the court are found in *County of Grant v.*  $Vogt.\ Vogt.\ Vogt.\ 2014\ WI\ 76$ . In Vogt, an officer in a small town observed a vehicle pull into an empty parking lot for a closed park on December 25, 2011 at 1:00 a.m. 2014 WI 76,  $\P$  4. The officer did not observe any traffic or law violations; the activity simply struck the officer as suspicious. Id. The officer pulled his marked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 621, 626, 111 S.Ct. 1547, 1550-51 (1991), the Supreme Court held that when physical force is absent in an encounter between law enforcement and citizen, a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment is affected when an individual submits to an officer's show of authority to restrain the individual's liberty.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Kelcey C.R., ¶34, which states, "Even if we considered this initial exchange between the police and Kelcey to be a seizure, it would be reasonable under the community caretaker function." The court's language supports the State's position that no determination was made as to whether the officers ordering the girl to "stay put" constituted a seizure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The standard for whether a seizure occurred under *Mendenhall* is whether a reasonable person, considering all the circumstances surrounding the incident, would have felt free to leave. *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554.

squad behind the defendant's vehicle and parked without turning on his emergency lights. Id. at  $\P$  6. The uniformed officer approached the driver's side window (where the defendant was seated), rapped on the window and motioned for the defendant to roll the window down. Id. at  $\P$  7. The defendant rolled down his window, and the officer asked the defendant what he was doing. Id. at  $\P$  8. As the defendant answered, the officer observed signs of intoxication. Id. The officer then took the defendant's driver's license, turned on his squad lights, and conducted an operating while under the influence investigation. Id. The Supreme Court held the initial contact was not a seizure, but a consensual encounter. Id. at  $\P$  39.

As the Court in *Vogt* reasoned, a consensual encounter between a law enforcement officer and a citizen does not implicate the Fourth Amendment. *Vogt* 2014 WI 76, ¶ 19, *citing State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 23, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 and *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 544. An encounter between a law enforcement officer and a citizen only becomes a seizure, "when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen," so that, "in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he was not free to leave." *Vogt*, 2014 WI 76, ¶ 20, *citing Mendenhall*, 466 U.S. at 552 (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968)). Factors considered by the court in determining whether a reasonable person would have felt free to leave include, "the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an

officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." *Id.* at ¶ 23(*quoting Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554). The Court, quoting *INS v. Delgado*, 446 U.S. 210, 104 S.Ct. 1758 (1984), made clear that "police questioning, by itself, is unlikely to result in a Fourth Amendment violation. While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response." *Id.* at ¶ 24 (*quoting Delgado*, 466 U.S. at 216).

Like the officer in Vogt, Officer Rupprecht saw a car parked in a public parking lot. (Trans 12:15-21). However, unlike *Vogt*, the Defendant was not still in his vehicle, and Officer Rupprecht did not pull his squad behind the Defendant's vehicle. (Trans 12:15-25; 13:1-10.) Instead, the Defendant was walking towards the building near the parking lot, and Officer Rupprecht parked near the door to that building, but did not block it. (Trans 12:18-21; 13:1-10; 20:4-9.) Furthermore, the Defendant's movements were not as restrained as those of the defendant in Vogt. The Defendant did not have a vehicle to contend with; he only had to walk into his home. In both cases, the Officers kept their squad lights off. (Trans 12:24-25; 13:1, 8-10; 20:7-9.) Further, when Officer Rupprecht called out to the Defendant by first name and asked to speak with him, it was no more of a command than when the officer in *Vogt* rapped on the defendant's car window and motioned for him to roll it down. Both officers were simply trying to make contact. See Vogt, 2014 WI 76, at ¶ 43 and (Trans. 19:23-25; 20:1-12; 26:8-21,

29:12-19). Finally, the Defendant's own behavior of leaning in through the passenger side window of the squad to talk to Officer Rupprecht demonstrates the Defendant's willingness to answer Officer Rupprecht's questions, even more so than the act of rolling down the car window exhibited by the defendant in *Vogt*. (Trans 13:12-25; 14:1.) Then, like the facts of *Vogt*, as Officer Rupprecht spoke with the Defendant, he observed additional signs of intoxication, which justified Officer Rupprecht's subsequent seizure of the Defendant for the purpose of conducting an investigation for operating while intoxicated. (Trans 14:19-22.)

II. EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS THAT A SEIZURE OCCURRED, THE SEIZURE WAS REASONABLE BECAUSE OFFICER RUPPRECHT WAS FUNCTIONING AS A COMMUNITY CARETAKER WHEN HE MADE CONTACT WITH THE DEFENDANT.

#### A. Community Caretaker Standard of Review and Law

The Court of Appeals reviews the Circuit Court's questions of fact from a motion to suppress under the clearly erroneous standard and independently reviews "whether an officer's community caretaker function satisfies the requirements of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the federal and state Constitutions." *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 16, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598 (*citations omitted*).

In *State v. Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 417 N.W.2d 411, 414 (1987), the Wisconsin Court of Appeals created a three-step test to determine whether a seizure conducted under the community caretaker function is reasonable. The court stated:

We conclude that when a community caretaker function is asserted as justification for the seizure of a person, the trial court must determine: (1) that a seizure within the meaning of the fourth amendment has occurred; (2) if so, whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity; and (3) if so, whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual. *Id*.

B. Officer Rupprecht was not Investigating, Detecting, or Trying to Acquire Evidence of a Crime when He Made Contact with the Defendant, Therefore, Officer Rupprecht was Acting as a Community Caretaker at the Time the Defense Claims a Seizure Occurred.

Regarding the first and second steps of the *Anderson* test, the State would note that it expressly does not concede that a seizure occurred when Officer Rupprecht said, "Juan, can you come talk to me?" The State maintains that the Defendant was not seized until after Officer Rupprecht smelled the odor of intoxicants and saw that the Defendant had bloodshot eyes after the Defendant approached the squad and was talking to Officer Rupprecht. If this Court agrees that there was no seizure, there is no need to go any further into the analysis of the community caretaker function. However, in the event that this Court holds that a seizure occurred when Officer Rupprecht called out to the Defendant, the seizure was reasonable because Officer Rupprecht was functioning as a community caretaker when he made contact with the defendant.

The second prong of the *Anderson* test is "whether the police conduct was bona fide community caretaker activity." 142 Wis. 2d at 169, 417 N.W.2d at 414. In determining whether an officer was engaged in a bona fide community caretaker activity, the inquiry is whether the officer's actions were "totally

divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." *In re Kelcey C.R.*, 2001 WI 54, ¶ 34, *citing Anderson*, 142 Wis. 2d at 166, 417 N.W.2d 411 (*quoting Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 441, 93 S.Ct. 2523 (1973). The subjective motivation for the officer's actions is not dispositive of whether the officer was engaged in a community caretaker activity. *Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 30. The Court is to evaluate the totality of the circumstances and determine if "an objectively reasonable basis for the community caretaker function is shown." *Id*.

Officer Rupprecht testified that his intention was to convey to the Defendant that Elida Peralta did not want the Defendant at the home and to check if Ms. Peralta's son was in the car with the intoxicated Defendant. (Trans 29:12-25; 30:1-7; 30:19-25.) Officer Rupprecht testified that this is a sort of activity that falls within his normal law-enforcement duties. (Trans 29:20-25; 30:1-7.) The Circuit Court found that Officer Rupprecht was credible when he testified he was "doing what officers do," and she found that, in fact, Officer Rupprecht was "doing what officers do." (Trans 43:1-7.) While Officer Rupprecht might have recognized that an Operating While Intoxicated investigation might be a result of his contact with the Defendant, under a totality of the circumstances analysis, the purpose of Officer Rupprecht's contact with the Defendant had nothing to do with the detection and investigation of criminal activity. Rather, his purpose was to ensure the peace and safety of members the community.

# C. Any Privacy Intrusion was Justified because Officer Rupprecht used the Least Intrusive Means Available to Carry Out His Duties as a Community Caretaker

The third step of the *Anderson* test is "whether the public need and interest outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual." 142 Wis. 2d at 169, 417 N.W.2d at 414. In *Kelcey C.R.*, the court noted four relevant factors in determining whether the public interest outweighs the private intrusion. 2001 WI 54, ¶ 36. These factors include:

(1) the degree of the public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

*Id.* (citing Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d at 169-70, 417 N.W.2d 411).

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